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Former Hilldene
36 Octantis Street, East Doncaster.

The history of this property goes back to 1885 when William Cronan( or Cronin),farmer,
was rated for land in Section Road."®! This was later identified as the Hilldene site on the
comner of Blackburn and Andersons Creek Roads. An early cottage (incorporated into the
later house in the 1930s)was built on this land and completed by 1887-89. It was owned
and occupied by John and Thomas Cronan, farmers'”

The Cronans, who became orchardists, were early district farmers. William Cronan
purchased a farm allotment in the Carlton Estate, where his modest home and land were
rated in the earliest surviving 1863 district rate records..””® An 1874 map showed this
property near Edger Road and the Koonung Creek.'™ William still owned his Koonung
Creek house on 17 acres in the 1880s'”
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The site of John and Thomas Cronan’s new house on 47 acres (on the
Blackburn/Anderson Creek Roads comer)was originally part of Section 8B, a 312 acre
property owned by A. McArthur. It was located south of Lewis Robinson’s Pre-Emptive
Right allotment, bounded on the north by Reynolds Road..'” Robinson, an early district
squatter, arrived at Andersons Creek in the 1840s."’

The Cronans planted an orchard and lived on their 47 acre property until the First World
War period.'* Shire of Doncaster rate records confirmed a transfer by September 1918 to
Emest Wagstaff, manager, of St Leonards'® Avenue, St.Kilda. The large asbestos-cement
clad timber Bungalow style residence constructed as a holiday house and hobby farm for

Wagstaff was completed by 1919.2%

Oakden and Ballantyne (and others) were designing single ridged Craftsman Bungalows
from 1906, but in 1918, bungalows were still rare in Melbourne.*!

Asbestos -cement building sheet was imported from 1903-4 and manufactured locally
from 1917.By 1927, Wunderlich’s Durabestos was promoted as economical, durable,
easy to use, and offering more fire resistance and vermin-proofing than an all-timber

home.It was used particularly in the construction of holiday homes®? .

The new East Doncaster residence became a district land mark, the intersection soon
being called Wagstaff’s Corner. At this time, Hilldene was said to be the largest and
finest house in the district.”®*

Wagstaff, the first general manager of the British Imperial Oil Company (Later, Shell,
Australia)appointed Jack Snell as manager of his East Doncaster property, the old
orchard being extended and replanted. District rate records confirm that Snell lived in the
1880s Cronan cottage, which had been retained.?** After his retirement in 1927, and his
move to a residence in Heyington Place, Toorak, Wagstaff and his wife, Florence, spent
more time at Hilldene
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In 1932, the Wagstaffs sold the property to J.J.Tully, who retained the house site but sold
41 acres of the farm land to his nephew, John Russell. ** The follwoing year, William
Langlands Jack purchased the house site with the 1880s and 1918 houses on it and five(or
six) acres of land. Jack, a graduate of Melbourne University and Oxford University,
became a Melbourne barrister and solicitor. By the time that Jack came to East
Doncaster, he had taken over his father’s Market Street insurance agency and the role of
Consul to Portugal®”’ Some additions were made by Jack in the 1930s, including linking
the 1918 house to the old cottage and adding a side entrance. Mrs Jack renamed the
house Mossvale after the town where she grew up.”®®

Other owners of the former Hilldene included John Fothergill Barnes in about 1936. He
was a retired British Army major, and later, an advertising agent.zo9 Bames renamed the
property Hilltop.*'°In 1950, Barnes built 2 new house on the east of the land and sold the
former Hilldene to Ken Stonier..”!! Subsequent additions were made in the 1960s and
more recently by the present owner, Mr.N.J.Macpherson. Today, no fruit trees remain on
the once well-known orchard property.2 12

Of local historical significanceas a timber house which has developed over time from an
1880s orchardist’s cottage to a businessman’s hobby farm; for its associations with John
and Thomas Cronan, early district orchardists,and with Erest Wagstaff, first general
manager of a company which became Shell Australia; and once the local land mark at

Wagstaff’s Corner.
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